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4 Unleashing the War



4.	 On 28 July 1914, the transportation of the mobilised Imperial and Royal troops to the Serbian 
border commenced. From the beginning of August, the trains rolled to Galicia. More than a million 
soldiers had to be transported. The deployment of the ordinary troops was carried out using 
freight trains. The wagons bore the inscription ‘For 40 men or 6 horses’. Officers were transported 
with normal passenger coaches. The inscriptions were thoroughly auto-suggestive.



J uly 25, 1914 was a terribly hot day.’ This is how Baron Wladimir von Giesl, the 
last Imperial and Royal envoy in Belgrade, began his portrayal of his departure 

from this city.258 Following the handover of the démarche containing the ultimatum 
he had arranged for two variations of his personal reaction to the Serbian response to 
be sketched out. One of them was for an unconditional acceptance and the other was 
for a conditional acceptance, in which case it was irrelevant whether the démarche was 
accepted only in parts or almost in its entirety. His unequivocal instructions stipulated 
an ‘unconditional acceptance’.

During the day on 25 July, at Giesl’s behest no member of the delegation was per-
mitted to leave the building. Events then proceeded at a breakneck pace. Following 
the visit of the Serbian prime minister to the Imperial and Royal delegation and the 
handover of the response note, diplomatic relations were regarded as discontinued. A 
quarter of an hour later, Giesl was already on his way to the railway station with the 
members of the delegation. He heard calls of abuse in the streets. At the station, all ac-
credited diplomatic representatives in Belgrade were gathered together  ; only the Rus-
sian representative was missing. A Serbian officer called  : ‘Au revoir à Budapest  !’ Then 
the scheduled train departed. Following the crossing of the Old Sava Bridge and, with 
it, the imperial border, Geisl was called to the telephone at Zemun station. It was Tisza, 
who asked him  : ‘Did this have to happen  ?’ Giesl responded in the affirmative.

The soldiers of the Zemun garrison had taken up positions along the banks of the 
Sava River. Aside from this, however, there were of course no other visible develop-
ments, as the Austro-Hungarian mobilisation began only three days later. During the 
remainder of the journey, the train containing Giesl was greeted at every station by 
cheering people. At three in the morning, the envoy was led from the train in Subotica 
(Szabadka), in order for him to hear an excited address. In Budapest he met with Tisza. 
The journey continued via Győr (Raab) to Vienna. Everywhere there was cheering and 
relief. On the 26th Giesl reported to the foreign minister and on the 27th to the Em-
peror in Bad Ischl. As Giesl palliatively wrote, the Emperor supposedly then said  : ‘You 
could not have acted any differently […] I must now accept the consequences.’ Re-
turning to Vienna, Giesl reported to Archduke Friedrich, designated Commander of 
the Balkan Armed Forces. Here he was given his new assignment  : the Baron had been 
chosen as the representative of the Foreign Ministry attached to the High Command.

Giesl’s portrayal of his journey through Hungary as far as Vienna on the night of 
25/26 July and in the hours that followed reveals only a tiny segment of what really 
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happened during those days. It is understandable that nothing more was felt of the 
convulsion caused by the murders in Sarajevo. The excitement was of a different kind, 
and it now gained ground and eclipsed everything else. Austrian newspapers such as the 
Reichspost had written already hours before the severance of diplomatic ties with Serbia 
that the latter would not accept the ultimatum. The announcement from St. Petersburg 
that Russia was ‘not able to remain indifferent in the Austro-Serbian conflict’ was cor-
rectly understood to mean that Russia would support Serbia and that as a result it would 
be very unlikely that the war would remain limited to Serbia and, perhaps, Montenegro. 
But who cared about that  ? On the evening of 25 July celebrations took place in Vienna 
and the large cities of the Dual Monarchy and even in Berlin multitudes of people gath-
ered at the Austro-Hungarian embassy and sang the Emperor’s Hymn. The tune was 
well-known, as it was the same as that of the German patriotic song, the Deutschlandlied.

‘We have started this war, not the Germans, and still less the Entente – that much I 
know’, wrote Leopold von Andrian-Werburg. He had experienced the July Crisis at the 
Ballhausplatz.259 But years later he was still absolutely convinced that they had acted 
correctly in July 1914 and that it had not been possible to act differently. We can concur 
with Conrad von Hötzendorf  : ‘Besides, the World War was one of those catastrophes 
that are neither caused by an individual nor can be stopped by one.’260 The roots of the 
war stretched back a long way and it could have broken out much earlier. During all 
the crises since 1908, Austria-Hungary had played an important role. It was always the 
Balkans that threatened to explode and brought about interventions on the part of the 
great powers. Everyone felt called upon to intervene and make clear the interests of his 
own country. Austria also had interests, and it also certainly had cause for greater con-
sternation than any of the other intervening powers. The experience of a considerably 
longer period of time was reflected in the actions of those responsible in Austria-Hun-
gary than just the few weeks of July 1914. The conviction was reflected of being partially 
encircled by opponents, or, in fact, enemies and being vulnerable everywhere and only 
being able to waste away, awaiting decomposition. The Sarajevo murders had been a hu-
miliation. Yet it was the state of an actual inability to act that then entered the picture 
and the hope of putting an end to it all that then resulted in the decision to go to war. 
Ultimately, the honour of the Empire repeatedly played a role and this resulted in the 
saying of Emperor Franz Joseph to the effect that if the country did have to go under, 
it should at least do so ‘honourably’.

Franz Joseph I

One of the central questions in the context of the unleashing of the military conflict 
is of course the role played by the Emperor in the decision to wage war against Serbia. 
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Already during the journey from Ischl to Vienna he had been convinced of the ines-
capability of war. During the first days after his return, however, matters of protocol 
had to be dealt with, as well as keeping foreign countries at bay. The determination to 
go to war hardened. The Chief of the Military Chancellery, Artur Bolfras, was received 
by the Monarch on an almost daily basis. On Sunday, 5 July, the Chief of the General 
Staff was summoned to give a lengthy presentation. The day after, the Foreign Minister 
and the War Minister, Berchtold and Krobatin, came and both of them were granted 
20 minutes to confer with the Emperor and receive his opinion. This was without doubt 
too short to engage in a detailed evaluation of all aspects of the critical situation. The 
appointments were, in any case, no longer than the subsequent appointment with the 
aide-de-camp of the Archduke Franz Ferdinand, Colonel Bardolff, who reported to the 
Emperor on the last days and hours of his great-nephew. Everything else was lost in 
the usual daily business. The heads of the Austrian and the Hungarian Court Chancel-
leries, Cabinet Director Baron Schiessl and Section Chief Daruváry, arrived with files 
and documents to be issued, the Lord Chamberlain Alfred, Prince of Montenuovo and 
the Emperor’s Adjutant General Count Egon Paar, also received a few minutes each. 
As usual, no minutes were taken  ; the assignments were issued verbally. Again, as usual, 
everything took place tête-à-tête.

During one of the appointments, probably during Count Berchtold’s audience on 
30 June or 2 July, the word was uttered that was understood as the monarch’s consent  : 
war  ! War was not to be waged at any cost, but the Monarch had resolved to put Serbia 
in her place. It was not until half a year had passed that Franz Joseph addressed this. 
Had it been the right decision  ? Retrospectively at least, he had his doubts.261 Of course, 
the Emperor’s vote counted and on 6 July at the latest everything necessary had been 
said. The next day Franz Joseph boarded his official train and travelled back to Ischl, as 
though Sarajevo and its consequences had been merely an irritating interruption of his 
annual summer vacation. This was all the more astounding, given that the session of the 
Joint Council of Ministers had been scheduled for the same day, 7 July. At this session 
the basic decision was due to be discussed regarding whether to go to war against Serbia, 
the consequences such a decision might have and which objectives the Austro-Hungar-
ian monarchy should pursue in the event of war. Franz Joseph knew nothing in advance 
of the diverging opinion of the Hungarian Primer Minister Tisza, as the latter had 
only been with him for a few minutes on 30 June. Evidently, the Emperor relied on his 
foreign minister. And while the course was being set for war, the Emperor was sitting 
in his official train on his way to Ischl. If Austria-Hungary had been a constitutional 
monarchy, in which the monarch only had a representative function, the absence of the 
monarch during such a fateful consultation would perhaps not have been so important. 
But in the Habsburg Monarchy the Emperor had much more than just a representative 
function and specifically decisions over war and peace were dependent on a ruling by 
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the Emperor. After all, he had defended his own prerogatives tooth and nail, especially 
in the military realm. He regarded himself as ruler by the grace of God and considered 
it a matter of course that every civil servant and, above all, every soldier swore a personal 
oath of loyalty to him  : ‘I swear by God the Almighty […].’

Could it be mentioned in defence of the Emperor’s absence from the Council of 
Ministers on 7 July that he had not expected decisive resolutions  ? Did he assume that 
he would in any case be informed on time and asked for his consent  ? Perhaps he first 
had to reach a state of peace with himself. Ultimately, all these considerations can be 
discarded. The fact that a lot was at stake on 7 July 1914 was beyond dispute, and, as 
subsequent months would demonstrate, it was not Franz Joseph’s consistent intention 
to remain absent from the sessions of the Joint Council of Ministers, for he indeed 
later – admittedly only occasionally – attended such sessions. Even the argument that 
matters were discussed that had already been decided on, for example the question of a 
swift end to the war, is redundant because such a thing was never mentioned during a 
session of the Joint Council of Ministers during the war years of Franz Joseph, and the 
Emperor and King attended sessions at which far less important things were discussed 
but still possessed the character of Privy Council meetings. It can thus only be con-
cluded that the old Emperor assumed that everything that was important had already 
been said. The joint Finance Minister, Biliński, was also certain that the Emperor had 
made a definite decision to go to war on the day before his departure for Bad Ischl. But 
the dice had already been rolled earlier. And the consequences were clear. The Emperor 
had demonstrated his will and assumed that actions would be taken accordingly. So he 
was free to leave Vienna. His absence was also designed to signalise that the Monarch 
was ready to defer personal considerations and rely on the judgement and the deci-
sions of the most important representatives of his Empire. The latter was very much 
in fitting with a long-established practice, for Franz Joseph had adopted it as his basic 
principle to trust people to whom he had given responsibility and to let them bear this 
responsibility. Furthermore, he had contented himself for a long time with simply being 
informed. Another idiosyncrasy had evolved  : Franz Joseph evidently shied away from 
conferences or even consultations that were attended by several people. The Austrian 
and Hungarian prime ministers were never simultaneously called to see the Emperor, 
even where important questions relating to the Compromise were concerned or when 
the consonance of political, legislative, social or other measures in the two halves of the 
Empire had to be ensured. Even that might have been a vestige of an absolutist notion 
of government  ; modern and, above all, in keeping with the unprecedented situation in 
July 1914 it certainly was not.

In Bad Ischl, away from the daily routine and yet with an only temporary link to 
the actual power centre in Vienna, the Emperor received reports. There he learnt of the 
proceedings of the Joint Council of Ministers on 7 July and received the memorandum 
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drafted the following day by Count Tisza, in which the Hungarian Prime Minister 
argued in favour of not simply attacking Serbia but rather issuing ultimatums, on the 
fulfilment of which the further course of action should depend. The Foreign Minister 
had two opportunities to inform the Emperor of developments in his summer domicile. 
But when the Council of Ministers next met on 19 July, the Emperor was missing once 
again and apparently did not have any part in the decision regarding the actual issuing 
of the démarche containing the ultimatum. And when it was a question of finalising the 
declaration of war and thus the formal prerequisites for the war, which was regarded by 
Franz Joseph as inescapable, this took place without further consultations, without one 
last, dramatic conference and, naturally, without direct contact with the German Kaiser, 
as the monarchs never telephoned each other or used a Hughes microphone. The Kaiser 
simply signed the piece of paper presented to him. Thus, the declaration of war against 
Serbia was reduced to a simple administrative act.

The Calm before the Storm

In spite of Serbian mobilisation, the Austro-Hungarian military machinery still did 
not appear to bestir itself. This apparent inactivity and the sheer endless waiting led 
repeatedly to stinging comments  : ‘A war has never before been provoked with such 
amateurism, than the war against Serbia in July 1914’, as Fritz Fellner wrote, and ‘this 
harsh judgement should finally be explained by a military-historical investigation on 
the part of the Austrian authorities. It had been known since 7 July that war was desired 
[…] on 27 July Foreign Minister Berchtold requests the Emperor to sign the declara-
tion of war, […] the Chief of the General Staff, however, declares himself in fact unable 
to begin the war, which had been planned for three weeks, before 14 days had passed.’262 
Now we will examine how tenable this claim really is.

Aside from the campaign of occupation of 1878, which was truly an isolated and in 
military terms narrowly-defined event, the Habsburg Monarchy was preparing to wage 
a proper war for the first time since 1866. During the intervening period, most other 
states had waged bigger or smaller wars. All of them had attempted to plan ahead for a 
war and to prepare themselves for the demands of a major military conflict. Essentially, 
however, all of them were confronted within a short space of time with a very different 
reality. From practically the first day on, the World War burst the dimensions of any-
thing that had come before and anything that had been planned for.

In respect of the approach to Serbia, the timing of the dispatch of the démarche 
containing the ultimatum and the expansion of the war to become one that included 
at least Russia, but which could potentially turn into a European and even a world war, 
military considerations naturally played an important role, yet they are only compre-
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hensible within the overall strategic context. The Imperial and Royal Military Adminis-
tration could only initiate mobilisation under certain very precise circumstances, for not 
only was it required that the mobilisation would result in certain developments, which 
would in turn trigger countermeasures from those affected or from those states tied to 
alliances, but also that the mobilisation had to take place on the basis of very specific 
war scenarios.

Conrad apparently refused to initiate preparatory mobilisation measures, as he, like 
many other soldiers, remembered only too well the consequences of the mobilisation 
of 1912. The Chief of the General Staff declared that ‘the army is so bitter as a result of 
the abortive mobilisation of 1912 that a mobilisation can only now be ordered if war is 
certain’.263 Regardless of this fact – as will be shown – preparations were indeed made. 
But only on the afternoon of 23 July was the army corps designated for the war against 
Serbia ordered to cease all exercises and to gather the regiments by the evening of 25 
July at the latest in their peacetime garrisons.264 And these were only the preparations 
for a partial mobilisation.

On the evening of 25 July there was a first certainty  : Serbia had not conformed to 
Austria-Hungary’s ultimatum. From this moment on, every effort was made to trigger 
war. But there can be no question of Austria-Hungary being unprepared. How consist-
ently it pursued its objective and how quickly the certainty spread that there would be 
war can be seen with the aid of several key Austrian documents.265

Two documents, or rather two groups of documents, can be utilised here. The first 
document is the proclamation of the Emperor ‘To My Peoples’. This manifesto was 
prepared parallel to the Serbian note of demands in the Foreign Ministry. It was com-
pleted prior to 20 July and was passed on in strict confidence for the information of 
both prime ministers, Stürgkh and Tisza, on 21 July. Stürgkh then sent Berchthold a 
draft of a proclamation, which had been prepared a long time in advance in the office 
of the Imperial-Royal prime minister. As a comparison of the two texts shows, the For-
eign Ministry did not take Stürgkh’s draft into consideration. This differed in the case 
of Tisza, who telegraphed his requests for alterations to Bad Ischl on 25 July, where 
Berchtold waited in order to implement all further steps with the Emperor once the 
48-hour deadline granted to Serbia ran out. Tisza proposed two alterations that were 
then actually implemented. Finally, two further changes were made on the wishes of 
the Emperor. With that, the proclamation was ready. With the exception of these mi-
nor alterations, however, the proclamation of war had been prepared long before the 
dispatch of the ultimatum to Serbia. Even prior to 20 July 1914 the following words 
had been formulated  : ‘It was My most fervent wish to dedicate the years that might still 
be granted to Me by God’s grace to works of peace and to preserve My peoples from 
the great sacrifices and burdens of war. The council of providence has decided other-
wise. […] With such forgetful ingratitude the Kingdom of Serbia, which from the first 
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beginnings of its official independence until the most recent times had been sustained 
and promoted by My predecessors and Myself, entered already years ago on the path 
of open hostility towards Austria-Hungary. […] We must call a halt to this unbearable 
attitude, and put an end to Serbia’s incessant provocations. […] My government has 
in vain made one final attempt to achieve the objective by peaceful means of inducing 
Serbia to change its ways by issuing a solemn exhortation. […] Thus, I must proceed 
to obtain the necessary guarantees by force of arms that will secure for My states inner 
quiet and lasting peace abroad.’ In conclusion, without reference to the ‘heritage of a 
glorious past’ proposed by the Foreign Ministry, the Emperor formulated the words  : 
‘I have faith in Austria-Hungary’s brave armed forces, filled with devoted zeal. And I 
have faith in the Almighty, that He will grant our arms the victory.’266

Now, we can certainly view this proclamation as the desire to be prepared for the 
rejection of the ultimatum by Serbia. Even so, none of those who worked on the doc-
ument thought the Emperor was wasting his time. The genesis of the proclamation in 
any case contradicts the common view that the severance of diplomatic relations did 
not necessarily have to mean war, and it was above all the Emperor who – according to 
one of the adjutants in the Emperor’s entourage, Colonel Baron Albert von Margutti – 
had said that this did not have to be the result.267 This was one of many retrospective 
embellishments. The Emperor was absolutely aware of this. He wanted war.

A second indication pointed unmistakeably to the certainty of an impending war  : on 
the day of the dispatch of the note of demands, i.e. on 23 July 1914, the senior military 
commanders began to keep a war diary. This is of interest because with the help of these 
war diaries we can reconstruct the course of military events in detail already from 23 
July. On 25 July, Archduke Friedrich, who had already been placed at the ‘disposal of 
the Supreme Commander’ several days earlier, was named Commander-in-Chief of the 
Balkan Armed Forces.268 The powers of the commander-in-chief and his jurisdiction 
had been likewise fixed several days earlier. They only had to wait for something that 
could result in a declaration of war.

Instead, on 26 July the German ambassador in London, Prince Lichnowsky passed 
on another British offer to mediate. It came from King George V and the British gov-
ernment.269 They promised to provide compensation for Austria-Hungary at an ambas-
sadors’ conference and added that it would not be possible to localise a war. It would 
become a general war. Serbia would most certainly not submit to Austrian pressure, but 
undoubtedly to the united will of the powers. Once Austro-Hungarian troops set foot 
on Serbian territory, however, ‘the world war’ would be ‘unavoidable’, according to Am-
bassador Lichnowksy. London thus distanced itself from the idea of a ‘halt in Belgrade’. 
This option had been discussed between the British ambassador in Vienna, Sir Maurice 
Bunsen, and his Russian colleague, Nikolai Shebeko, whereby the Russian ambassador 
apparently said that the Imperial and Royal troops should feel free to advance some-
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what further to the south.270 The German Empire immediately rejected an intervention 
in Vienna along the lines of British proposals for the reason that it could not prostitute 
itself ‘to put Austria before a European court for bargaining over Serbia’.271 In rejecting 
the British offer to mediate, it becomes clear that Berlin regarded the July Crisis just 
as much as a vehicle for its own policies as Vienna pursued its goals on the basis of 
German backing.

On the same day, 26 July, the Chief of the German General Staff, Count Helmuth 
von Moltke, drafted the ‘warning’ to Belgium, in which he demanded that German 
troops be allowed to march through that country in order to engage with France. Ger-
many definitely expected a major war. Even London abandoned all hope and merely 
stated that it was down to Germany and Germany alone to deter Austria-Hungary 
from pursuing its ‘great policies’, as London called them.272 London and Paris an-
nounced that if Berlin had a pacifying effect on Vienna, then the French and British 
governments would in turn exert influence on St. Petersburg. Days earlier, however, 
Russia had already initiated the first steps towards a mobilisation of its armies, and not 
only in several western military districts but, as it claimed, for ‘unavoidable technical 
reasons’ across the entire Empire.273 This was hard to believe. However, there was an-
other indication that made the Russian stance clear  : on 24 July, still before the deadline 
set by the Austrian ultimatum, the Russian embassy in Berlin received the instruction 
to dissolve its assets in Germany and to transfer the 100 million roubles parked in 
Berlin.274 Thus, it was yet again the financiers who were the harbingers of the approach-
ing war. Russia also implemented the first mobilisation measures for its fleet, however, 
and this indicated even more unmistakeably that Russia did not only anticipate facing 
Austria-Hungary. France also initiated mobilisation on 26 July and in Great Britain 
the concentration of the First and Second Fleets was ordered. To negotiate now was 
almost impossible  ; developments were too far advanced. Neither Vienna nor Berlin, St. 
Petersburg or Paris wanted to take a step back. Instead, Count Berchtold submitted on 
26 July the declaration of war against Serbia for the signature of Emperor Franz Joseph. 
He justified this by claiming that as a result of the Serbian response an attempt at me-
diation might still be made.275 This should be avoided by creating a fait accompli. The 
ground should be cut out from underneath any attempt to intervene. In any case, the 
first shots had already been fired. Franz Joseph was satisfied with this explanation. He 
signed the draft submitted to him and ordered the mobilisation of the corps designated 
for ‘war scenario Serbia’. It was only the fact that this happened on a Sunday and it was 
believed that it would not be possible to get the message through to everywhere due to 
the partially unstaffed regional post offices that prevented the alert from already being 
issued on this day. This was to be done on 27 July, a Monday.276
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The ‘Skirmish’ near Temes-Kubin

The manner in which Austria-Hungary declared war can certainly serve as an object 
lesson in unleashing a war. On the front of the file containing the declaration of war, 
namely the ‘Most humble presentation’ by Count Bertchtold to the Emperor, is the 
following text  : ‘In consideration of the […] note of reply from the Serbian government, 
which is in its contents entirely worthless, but in its form accommodating, I do not 
regard it as impossible that the Triple Entente could make another attempt to achieve 
a peaceful settlement of the conflict, if a clear situation is not created by means of the 
declaration of war. According to a report of the 4th Corps Command, Serbian troops 
yesterday fired at our troops from Danube steamers near Temes-Kubin and there oc-
curred following our return of fire a substantial skirmish. Hostilities have thus indeed 
been opened and it appears all the more imperative to allow the army in terms of inter-
national law every freedom of action that they would have in a state of war … I allow 
myself to mention that his Imperial and Royal Highness, the Commander-in-Chief of 
the Balkan Armed Forces, Archduke Friedrich, as well as the Chief of the General Staff, 
have no objection to dispatching the declaration of war tomorrow morning.’277

The reference to the skirmish near Temes-Kubin was also incorporated into the text 
of the declaration of war and, with these passages added, the document was approved 
by Emperor Franz Joseph.

But the report had been false. Near Temes-Kubin, today Kovin, a small town on 
the northern banks of the Danube opposite Smederevo, there had been no skirmish. 
Several nervous or undisciplined men had perhaps shot their rifles, but nothing more 
had happened. In the war diary and in the operational files of the Imperial and Royal 
7th Infantry Division, the incident is described as follows  : the 14th Infantry Brigade 
(Colonel Baumgartner) reports  : ‘At Kevevára [Temes-Kubin / Kovin] Serbian steamers 
stopped by fire from their own ranks  ; following investigation allowed to proceed. Our 
own steamers shot at from Semendria [Smederevo], though without damage.’278

That was all. The original report on this skirmish was apparently sent from the Com-
mand of the 4th Corps (Budapest) to the Imperial and Royal General Staff in Vienna. 
This report, however, told an entirely different story  : ‘Temes-Kubin  : Serbian soldiers 
on a ship open fire on their own troops, major skirmish, unknown number of dead 
and injured.’279 The text of the report points to a telegram that must have arrived from 
Budapest. Even if exact losses were not cited, it was suggested that these had been not 
inconsiderable. The office of the Chief of the General Staff apparently then informed 
the Foreign Minister. Only after the report had been passed on to Berchtold did the 
General Staff attempt to confirm these events, initially in Budapest, then in Timișoara 
(Temesvár) with the Command of the 7th Corps, to which the 7th Infantry Divi-
sion belonged.280 Timișoara knew nothing, however, of an engagement near Temes-
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Kubin. Berchtold was then informed that such an engagement had never taken place. 
When this amendment took place is not entirely clear. At lunchtime on 27 July, the 
Austro-Hungarian Correspondence Office was also informed about the skirmish near 
Temes-Kubin. Yet the Emperor had already signed the declaration of war. Berchtold 
returned to Vienna. Was he only now informed about the bloodless shoot-out near 
Temes-Kubin  ? At the latest during the course of 27 July, he learnt that nothing had 
happened and expunged the passage on Temes-Kubin from the official declaration of 
war conveyed to Serbia.

In the meantime, however, with reference to the opening of hostilities by Serbia, 
politics had been pursued on a grand scale. On 27 July the Russian ambassador, She-
beko, who had called for great restraint, had received a response to the effect that this 
would be difficult, as a skirmish had already taken place on the Danube and Serbia had 
commenced hostilities. The Russian promised to immediately exert an influence on 
Serbia so that it refrained from all forms of violence. He furthermore stated that the 
Serbs would pull back in the event of an Austrian advance in order to avoid hostilities 
for as long as possible.281 But these could no longer be avoided. Emperor Franz Joseph 
telegraphed King Carol of Romania on 28 July that he was forced to commence hos-
tilities against the Serbian armed forces after Serbia had not only failed to fulfil Aus-
tro-Hungarian demands but also ‘provoked a military engagement without a previous 
declaration of war’.282 The British ambassador in Vienna was likewise informed about 
this, and on 28 July he called on Berchtold and was told, among other things, that Ser-
bia did not count among the cultured nations. Aside from that, all attempts to prevent 
the war were too late, since, as Berchtold told the ambassador and then also dispatched 
to the Imperial and Royal representative in London, ‘yesterday the Serbian side already 
opened fire on our border soldiers’.283 Here, Berchtold mixed up his dates, for the skir-
mish near Temes-Kubin had supposedly already taken place on 26 July. Berchtold no 
more mentioned Temes-Kubin by name, however, than the Emperor had done in his 
telegram to King Carol of Romania. The Minister in fact withheld all exact dates and 
merged events into each another very conspicuously.

Now the question must be asked as to what exactly had happened at the ‘skirmish’ 
near Temes-Kubin. It is clear that it did not take place. It was already established 
decades ago that the report was mysterious because the notification of the skirmish 
apparently came from a corps command that was not even located in the region. Ru-
dolf Kiszling, who has written several articles on Temes-Kubin, has provided evidence 
for his portrayals merely by citing one document in the Austrian War Archives.284 An 
exact examination carried out years ago by archivists in the War Archives in Vienna 
came to the surprising conclusion, however, that this telegram could not be found. 
Neither in the files of the Emperor’s Military Chancellery nor in the General Staff 
files, the operational files or in other record groups of the so-called New Field Files 
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could such a telegram be found. A corresponding entry in one of the registers does 
not exist either. Nothing  ! And this for an undountedly historical document from the 
early war period.

It is very likely that one must go a step further and cast doubt on whether this 
telegram ever existed. If it did exist, however, it must have been destroyed with good 
reason. Kiszling claims to have seen it, yet he cited neither a file nor a reference number. 
Gustav Hubka, one of the employees collaborating on the General Staff work on the 
First World War, said that the report had been passed on only by telephone.285 Yet the 
report must have existed at some point in written form, because otherwise it would not 
have been possible to quote its wording. If something of this nature was ever reported 
from the area of the 4th Corps to Vienna, then it was a bogus report. And it did not 
come by chance  ! Perhaps it had been commissioned and was then – after fulfilling its 
purpose – destroyed.

The reference to Serbian troops opening fire on 26 July without declaring war was 
ideal for presenting Serbia as the aggressor, which was important for the stance of Italy 
and Romania. If the two of them were at all to stand by the Triple Alliance, then they 
would do so only in the event of a war that had not been started by either Austria-Hun-
gary or Germany. Others, for example the British, were also told upon receipt of the 
report about the skirmish that Serbia was the aggressor.

The non-existent skirmish served moreover to make the claim to the domestic audi-
ence that the Dual Monarchy had started a defensive war. This was not only a question 
of outward appearances, for that would not have required such a mystification. It was 
far more a measure that should ensure that everyone who had perhaps not been ready 
to wage an aggressive war now accepted the necessity of defence. This was important 
with regard to the Slavs in the Monarchy, but also in respect of the political groups who, 
like the Austrian Social Democrats, had made it clear when discussing the Law on War 
Contributions (Kriegsleistungsgesetz) that they would only accept the passing of drastic 
measures in the case of a defensive war.

Evidently, during the course of 48 hours no-one in Austria had given any thought 
to informing the Supreme Commander that the declaration of war he had signed had 
been manipulated retroactively. It was not until a day after the dispatch of the decla-
ration of war, i.e. on 29 July, that Berchtold reported the situation to the Emperor. He 
did so, once again, in a ‘Most humble presentation’, which stated  : ‘After the news of the 
military engagement near Temes-Kubin could not be confirmed and, on the contrary, 
only a single report about a minor skirmish near Gradište had been received, which did 
not appear to be appropriate for use in justifying a grave act of state, I took it upon my-
self in the hope of the retroactive Supreme Approval of Your Majesty to eliminate the 
sentence about the attack by Serbian troops near Temes-Kubin from the declaration of 
war against Serbia.’286
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According to a remark made by the Emperor’s aide-de-camp, Baron von Catinelli, the 
Monarch was annoyed at not having been reported to immediately by Berchtold.287 
Even if that is true, the Emperor was in no way so indignant to even reprimand Berch-
told. He was only too aware of the necessity of unleashing the war that he had helped 
to prepare.

When everything already seemed to be under way, an objection came all of a sudden 
and from someone of whom one would never have expected it. When Kaiser Wil-
helm returned from his trip to Nordland and read the text of the Serbian response, he 
apparently said  : ‘But with this any reason for war ceases to exist.’ And on the edge of 
the report from Vienna he noted  : ‘Giesl could have remained in Belgrade after all.’288 
Suddenly, the very man who had consistently worked towards war and indeed pressed 
for it, who had dismissed with derisive words any Austro-Hungarian impulse to min-
imise the war aims, was now inclined to concede. Why he did this is difficult to say. 
Had he suddenly realised the full extent of the risk  ? Did he for the first time have the 
impression that Great Britain might also count among the opponents of the Dual Al-
liance  ? Or was the whole thing only designed for the benefit of the outside world and 
to demonstrate the German Kaiser’s desire for peace  ? These questions cannot really be 
answered conclusively. But Wilhelm now suddenly found the British proposal of a halt 
in Belgrade worth considering. For the German imperial leadership, a peculiar situation 
had thus emerged. The Imperial Chancellor and the permanent secretary in the Foreign 
Ministry had geared their policies towards the Kaiser and had made the realisation of 
a war the foundation of these policies. The British proposal for a conference had been 
rejected. And now suddenly the Kaiser hesitated and everything seemed to be called 
into question. Would there perhaps really only be a Third Balkan War  ?

Whoever claimed to have witnessed the final act of drama would have been mistaken. 
On 28 July the Italian Foreign Minister Sonnino informed the British ambassador in 
Rome, Sir Ronald Rodd, that the Serbian chargé d’affaires had just called and reported 
that the Serbian government had by no means spoken its final word in points 5 and 
6 of the Austrian démarche. The demand for the participation of Imperial and Royal 
organs had, on the contrary, been ‘wilfully wrongly interpreted’ by presenting therein 
the cooperation of authorities and the elimination of the Serbian judiciary as a massive 
encroachment on the sovereignty of the country, whereas Austria-Hungary had in fact 
wanted no more than perhaps the cooperation of criminal organs.289 In any case, the 
chargé d’affaires stated that the negotiations could continue. But by now the declara-
tion of war was already on its way.

On the afternoon of 28 July the declaration of war was communicated to Belgrade. 
As Austria-Hungary no longer had a diplomatic representative in Serbia, this was sent 
by telegraph and rerouted via Romania. The declaration of war was handed over, even 
though Russia had once more made it clear that it would not remain on the sidelines. 
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This resulted above all in a military problem. If there was really only to be a war with 
Serbia, then the bulk of the Imperial and Royal armed forces to be mobilised would 
have to deploy against Serbia. If Russia were likewise to enter the war, another war sce-
nario would be triggered and the mass of the troops deployed in Galicia. Conrad had 
repeatedly made it clear that he would have to know by the fifth day of mobilisation 
whether there would only be war scenario ‘B’ (Balkans) or also war scenario ‘R’ (Russia). 
Until then, the transports could be stopped or rerouted without an appreciable loss of 
time.

The Austro-Hungarian declaration of war against Serbia was answered by Russia 
with the order for a partial mobilisation. Now the mechanics of the operational plan-
ning finally began to come to the fore. The alliance automatism and the deployment 
blueprints specified that one thing always brought about another, that actions were 
always automatic and that the manic compulsion of having to preempt others caused 
every military leader to urge for the next step to be taken at once. Berchtold, evidently 
influenced by Conrad, regarded it as imperative to respond to the partial Russian mo-
bilisation, which initially seemed to be limited to the western military districts, with 
the complete mobilisation of Austria-Hungary and the German Empire. On 29 July, 
Moltke once more explained the alliance mechanisms to the German Imperial Chan-
cellor. And he ended by saying that a German and Austro-Hungarian mobilisation 
would make France’s involvement inevitable. If Russia adhered to its alliance with 
France, there would be a two-front war. Now they wanted clarity from Russia.290 Beth-
mann Hollweg approached St. Petersburg almost with an ultimatum and demanded 
information as to whether Russia had mobilised completely and would intervene in 
the war. The Russian Foreign Minister Sazonov acted as though he were indignant at 
the idea of the German ambassador using such harsh words during his appearance on 
the Neva River. The Austrians were to blame, this was the quintessence of Sazonov’s 
response, for it was they who had mobilised eight army corps, i.e. around half of their 
army. The fact that Russia had itself commenced with the mobilisation of 13 army 
corps as well as the Baltic and the Black Sea Fleets, was not mentioned. Furthermore, 
only the representatives of the Entente were told that a general mobilisation had been 
initiated.291 It was enough, however, to make the German ambassador telegraph Berlin 
from St. Petersburg with the message that Russia was not prepared to back down. As 
a result, the German mobilisation should also be initiated. Parallel to this, it was once 
again attempted to reassure the British. In the process, Bethmann Hollweg suffered a 
first shock  : London let it be known that it could not remain on the sidelines if nothing 
came of the conference of the powers, if the conflict escalated into a war and if France 
were dragged into it.292

With this, the main assumption for a war of the Dual Alliance collapsed. All plans 
and, ultimately, the precipitation of the war had taken place under the assumption 
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that Austria would take on Serbia and keep part of the Russian forces in check, whilst 
the German Empire wished to defeat France before turning all its power against 
Russia. Now, however, Great Britain came into play. Suddenly, the German dispatches 
evinced real concern. Austria-Hungary should under all circumstances cultivate an 
exchange of views with St. Petersburg. ‘We are admittedly ready’, telegraphed Beth-
mann Hollweg to Vienna, ‘to fulfil our alliance commitments, but must refuse to 
allow Vienna to pull us recklessly and without due consideration of our advice into a 
global conflagration’.293

Now it was again Kaiser Wilhelm who pulled the German imperial government 
back on to its old course. He was disappointed that Great Britain would not remain 
neutral and regarded this as a personal affront against him, especially since he had been 
actively involved in the British case and was at pains to exploit the kinship of the two 
ruling houses. This now seemed to have been in vain. Thus, fierce determination was 
now the order of the day. On the same day, 30 July, an alliance offer was submitted to 
Turkey, to whom a considerable expansion of its territorial possessions was offered at 
the expense of the British Colonial Empire. In this way, the territorial losses of the 
Ottoman Empire since 1878 could have been offset.

These were hours in which a great deal was promised and many territories were men-
tally shifted back and forth. Already on 25 July, Conrad von Hötzendorf had demanded 
of Count Berchtold that no effort should be spared to induce the King of Montenegro 
to keep his country out of a war, even if this meant making him promises or offering 
him large sums of money. Kaiser Wilhelm took pains over Romania and let it be known 
in Vienna that Romania should be promised Bessarabia in return for intervening on 
the side of the Central Powers. Bulgaria was also brought into play, or rather, it brought 
itself into play by declaring that it wanted to enter the war on the side of the Cen-
tral Powers, as long as Romania did the same and did not obstruct Bulgarian wishes 
following the conquest of Macedonia.294 Bucharest, however, did not want to allow 
itself to be dragged into the war. Thus, the Bulgarian offer was also redundant. Great 
Britain adopted another view as its own and proposed that Austria take Belgrade and 
its environs from Serbia and occupy them until Serbia fulfilled all its demands. With 
this version of the ‘halt in Belgrade’, Great Britain even made the Serbian capital city 
available. This idea also failed to ignite. The roundabout of proposals and interventions 
continued. Since the Central Powers hoped to persuade Italy to enter the war without 
any discussion of territorial concessions, Kaiser Wilhelm sent his aide-de-camp, Lieu-
tenant Colonel von Kleist, to Rome in order to describe the tremendous impression it 
would make if an Italian army group were to surface in the French theatre of war in 
conjunction with German troops.295 Austria-Hungary took a different route. Instead of 
trying to impress the Italian press with only small sums of money, as it had until then, 
Berchtold now wanted to engage in bribery on a grand scale. Ten million kronen for 
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this purpose did not seem too great a sum to him.296 However, Italy also declared its 
neutrality and did not want to align itself with the Central Powers.

In the night from 29 to 30 July, Vienna was certain that there would also be a war 
with Russia. The Imperial and Royal War Ministry sent the supreme monetary author-
ities a notice to that effect.297 Early in the morning, the finance ministers of Austria 
and Hungary met with the governors of the central bank and the post office savings 
bank and discussed which financial measures would be necessary in order to maintain 
payment transactions. Consultations lasted until the afternoon, as Austria and Hungary 
favoured differing approaches. The discussion was then interrupted in order to await 
the decisions made during a session of the Joint Council of Ministers that afternoon. 
Even afterwards, however, the viewpoints of the financial experts continued to diverge. 
Agreement was only reached on the question of closing the stock exchanges for the 
next few days. It was still disputed, however, how they should react to the general mo-
bilisation.

On the same day, 30 July, Moltke had Conrad urgently advised to mobilise immedi-
ately against Russia, though it was only a question of the necessary countermeasures to 
the partial Russian mobilisation. For it was necessary both due to the Triple Alliance 
as well as for the benefit of the global public for Russia to be regarded as the aggressor. 
This ‘hanging on’ through the European crisis was, according to Moltke, the last means 
to ensure the consolidation of Austria-Hungary.298 Simultaneously, Moltke pressed for 
the largest possible concessions to Italy, as the Chief of the German General Staff 
sought to activate the Triple Alliance in its entirety. Then perhaps even Great Brit-
ain could be kept in check. At the same time, the German Empire mobilised against 
France. Now it was merely a question of declaring war.

But was it really important who officially declared war on whom  ? Everyone was 
mobilising, no-one wanted to fall behind and everyone wanted, if possible, to have 
completed their deployment a few days before anyone else. When the Joint Council of 
Ministers discussed the British mediation proposal on 31 July, the mood was that the 
mediation would be politely but firmly rejected.299 Such an intervention was no longer 
possible. Above all, and Emperor Franz Joseph had said this explicitly to Berchtold, 
the deployment against Serbia and the war against this country should be carried out 
as arranged. The Emperor was once more absent from the session of the Joint Council 
of Ministers, although he had returned to Vienna from Bad Ischl on 30 July. However, 
on the same day he had summoned Berchtold and the next day he granted both Tisza 
and Stürgkh a long audience. On 1 August, it was the turn of the senior military men, 
Archduke Friedrich, General Conrad and finally once again Minister Berchtold. Here 
the question of expanding the war was at stake. And it was the Emperor who decided 
that an offensive should be undertaken both in the south and in the north.300 It was 
presumably Conrad who had suggested this to him.
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On 1 August the German Empire declared war on Russia  ; two days later, on 3 Au-
gust, the German declaration of war was issued to France. Great Britain informed the 
German Empire the next day that it regarded itself as being at war. Austria-Hungary 
waited until 6 August to declare war on Russia because Conrad wanted to advance as 
far as possible with his preparations for mobilisation and with deployment by the time 
the declaration of war was issued. On 5 August, Montenegro declared war on Aus-
tria-Hungary. King Nikola let Vienna know that he intended to lay siege to Kotor and 
would promptly ask the civilian population to leave the city.301

At this point in time, it was no longer individual states that were at war but alliances. 
Whereas the Entente, however, was able to deploy its grouping in full, for the Triple 
Alliance both Italy and the de facto ally Romania were absent. Austria-Hungary ad-
mittedly saw no necessity to declare war on Great Britain and France, yet these two 
states, which were already at war with the German Empire, paid little heed to this. In 
spite of the almost daily assurances that the Habsburg Monarchy harboured no hostile 
intentions towards the Entente, indeed only demanded compensation from Serbia and, 
in the event that the war remained limited to Serbia, would not make any territorial 
demands against the Balkan state, it was above all France who was determined to ex-
pand the war to include the Danube Monarchy. On 8 August, the French Foreign 
Minister Gaston Doumergue accused Austria-Hungary of transporting troops along 
the French border. The entire XIVth Corps (Innsbruck) had allegedly taken up posi-
tions there.302 Despite assurances to the contrary by the Imperial and Royal ambassador 
in Paris, Count Szécsen, Monsieur Doumergue declared on 10 August that diplomatic 
relations had been broken off. From 11 August, France and Austira-Hungary were also 
at war. This was logical, as alliances were after all brought into the war. The Danube 
Monarchy had in any case harboured little hope of avoiding war with the Entente 
powers, as Conrad von Hötzendorf had already promised the German Supreme Army 
Command on 6 August to send two batteries of 30.5 cm mortars to the western front, 
in order to overpower the French defensive forts. The pieces of artillery that came from 
Gorizia (Görz) arrived on wagons on 12 and 13 August and were first deployed on 20 
August near Namur.303 Thus, with the best will in the world they could not serve as a 
justification for the steps taken by the French.

Since direct relations had already been severed, the French declaration of war was 
handed to the Austro-Hungarian ambassador in London by the British Foreign Secre-
tary Sir Edward Grey. Great Britain kept things brief  : although the British ambassador 
in Vienna, Sir Maurice Bunsen, had cast doubt vis-à-vis the Foreign Office regarding 
the French version of the intervention of Austro-Hungarian troops in the west,304 the 
government in London informed Austria-Hungary on 12 August that Great Britain 
was also at war with Austria-Hungary, as the Danube Monarchy had declared war on 
Russia and sent troops against France. The diplomats on all sides found positive words 
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for their host countries, for example Sir Maurice, who expressed his hope that the 
‘regrettable state of war between England and the Monarchy’ would not last long, as 
between the two countries ‘there was no antagonism that could in the least justify the 
conflict’.305

On 28 August, after lengthy hesitation and several plots to persuade Belgium that 
Austria-Hungary would remain neutral towards that country, the Austro-Hungarian 
envoy in Brussels, Count Clary, had to notify the Belgian government of the state 
of war between the two states. At this point in time, parts of Belgium had not only 
already been overrun by German armies but the mortars made available by the Impe-
rial and Royal Army High Command along with their operating crews had also been 
transported to Liege. Shortly thereafter, these pieces of artillery destroyed the forts of 
Antwerp.306

The inclusion of the British Empire as well as the Western European states in the 
war had a further consequence, which initially affected Austria-Hungary only indi-
rectly, namely the expansion of the war to extra-European territories. Japan came for-
ward with its demands and requested from the German Empire the evacuation of the 
leased territory of Jiaozhou in China as well as the withdrawal of all German warships 
from Japanese and Chinese waters. The German Foreign Ministry informed the Japa-
nese chargé d’affaires in Berlin that it did not have the intention of responding to the 
note. Diplomatic relations were broken off.307 The same applied to those between Aus-
tria-Hungary and Japan. The Imperial and Royal War Ministry ordered the cruiser an-
chored near Tsingtao, Kaiserin und Königin Elisabeth (Empress and Queen Elisabeth), 
and its convoying ships to prepare for naval hostilities. Thereafter, however, it remained 
unclear for months whether Austria-Hungary and Japan were actually at war with 
one another. According to a British report from 8 November 1914, which stated that 
Tsingtao had surrendered to the Japanese, the Foreign Ministry in Vienna trenchantly 
concluded  : as a result of the involvement of His Majesty’s ship Kaiserin Elisabeth in the 
battle of Tsingtao, ‘during which the Japanese were at all events the aggressors, there is 
now a state of war between us and Japan. On which day this happened, is not exactly 
known  ; By all accounts, it happened before 6 October.’308 The fact that the Kaiserin und 
Königin Elisabeth had been sunk in the meantime and the majority of its crew taken 
prisoner and transported to Japan only filtered through gradually.

In the end, only mechanisms and interests had exerted their influence. Rationale 
seemed to be as good as extinguished  ; and a humane approach all the more so. After 
the war had been precipitated over the course of a month, its unleashing took only three 
days.

Austria wanted to remove the problem of Serbia once and for all. The war with 
Russia was accepted as the price that had to be paid. The German Empire hoped to 
become a dominant Continental European power. For France, it was a question of 
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Alsace-Lorraine and of weakening Germany decisively. Russia wanted to expand at 
the expense of the Habsburg Monarchy and become the only dominant power in the 
Balkans. In addition, Constantinople seemed to be beckoning. Great Britain thought 
about the European balance of war, though in terms of its own interests, because a 
German Empire dominant on the Continent would doubtlessly become an elementary 
threat to Great Britain and also endanger her colonies. It was a question of power, the 
retention of power, influence and prestige, i.e. things that had an effect on world history 
like nothing else and that also continue to determine today’s world.

None of the governments involved, however, could be at all certain in 1914 how the 
decision to go to war would be received by its own people.309 France was prepared for 
anything but the enthusiastic sending-off of its soldiers, and had made preparations to 
arrest left-wing politicians.310 Great Britain was concerned that the seemingly almost 
inevitable shortages and even a brief blockade of the British Isles would lead to unem-
ployment, food riots and revolution – they did not.311 Austria-Hungary was naturally 
concerned about the nationalities question and aware that a proportion of those called 
up would refuse to serve, yet practically everyone rallied to the flag. In the German Em-
pire, the resistance of the political left was feared – instead, the left voted for war credits. 
In Russia there was some unrest, but it was of no consequence. Those who had started 
the war were convinced that they could conclude it victoriously. For the ordinary peo-
ple it was not a matter of course that a war was being fought, but it did not appear to 
them to be something particularly terrifying  ; war was part of human existence and was 
tremendously exciting. This was the greatest adventure of the 20th century  !

Salvation through War

If we follow the speeches given at the beginning of the war in 1914, the political and 
military events stand out and this has the effect of giving the entire thing the character 
of a decision borne by politicians and soldiers. Yet this image is doubtlessly incomplete. 
We can only do justice to the July Crisis and above all the unleashing of the war when 
we look beyond the groups already mentioned. In the process, the differences between 
the European states by and large balance each other out. It was essentially the same cir-
cles everywhere who thought of the war, feared it or longed for it. In fact, most of them 
did not care how the inevitable came about. Indeed, it was almost a relief when the war 
was finally triggered. Many people regarded it as a relief only because the tension was 
over. Simultaneously, anxiety spread. What would happen  ?

We can add countless almost identical remarks to that made by the Chief of the Ger-
man General Staff von Moltke during the course of the aforementioned war council in 
December 1912 in Berlin, according to which he regarded the war as unavoidable and 
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